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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington DC 20463-

THIS IS THE BEGINNING OF ADMINISTRATIVE FINE CASE # [64‘1

DATE SCANNED
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FEDER b SSIoN
_ SECRETAR\A
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION yhy - P w2
*| . WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 IR v -
May9,2007
'MEMORANDUM S
' THROUGH:  PATRINA M. CLARK
R STAFF DIRECTOR
MARGARITA MAISONET
CHIEF COMPLIANCE OFFICER
" . FROM: : JOHN D. GIBSON
ASSISTANT STAFF{PDIRECTOR
, REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION - 2006 YEAR o

END REPORT FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAM

Attached is a list of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file or
failed to timely file the 2006 Year End Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). The
Year End Report was due on January 31, 2007. ' ,

The committees listed in the attached RTB Circulation Report either failed to file
the report, filed the report more than five (5) days after the due date, or filed the report
more than thirty (30) days after the due date (considered a non-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 C.F.R. 111.43,

these committees should be assessed the civil money penalties highlighted on the attached
circulation report.
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~ ~Recommendation -

2. Find reason to believe that all other political committees and their treasurers listed on

the RTB Circulation Report violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a prehmmary
determination that the civil money penalties would be the amounts mdlcated on: the
RTB Circulation Report.

Send the appropriate letters.
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMIS SION

- In the Matter of

- Reason To Believe Recommendation - 2006
. Year End Report for the Administrative
. Fine Program: |
- KING FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE

MALOTT as treasurer;

'COMMITTEE TO ELECT SEKHON FOR
- CONGRESS, and DALJIT KAUR

SEKHON as treasurer;

' HOMER HARTAGE, and Black, Erica C.
" as treasurer;

ANDY MICHAUD FOR CONGRESS, and
ANDY MICHAUD as treasurer;

MIKE MCGRAW FOR CONGRESS, and
A ROBERT MUZIO as treasurer;

BEATTY FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and JUDITH
GRANDINETTI as treasurer;

OSTROW FOR CONGRESS, and SUSAN
H HANNA as treasurer;

AF# 1717

AF# 1706

AF#1712

AF# 1698

AF# 1720

~AF# 1701

AF# 1725
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
May 15, 2007

BYRNE FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE
THE, and JILL K HUEY as treasurer;
GREEN FOR CHANGE, and

- CORAMINITA MAHR as treasurer;

" JACOBS FOR CONGRESS, and
©  WILLARD STEPHEN HAYNES as
. f‘treasurer

) TERRY STULCE FOR CONGRESS and

Cannon Blair Ms as treasurer;

PAUL R. NELSON FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and Anderson, Jeff as
treasurer,

CONTRA COSTA UNITED
DEMOCRATIC CAMPAIGN AKA
CCUDC, and GREGORY E SANBORN as
treasurer;

NEXT POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and Linehan, Patrick as
treasurer;

- PENNSYLVANIA PAC FOR PROGRESS

and JONATHAN ROBERT KING as
treasurer,;

AMERICAN FINANCIAL SERVICES
ASSOCIATION PAC, and Hlmpler Bill
Mr. as treasurer;

vvvv.

LN N N’

N N N N N N N N un N N N N N N N’

AF# 1702

AF# 1711

AF# 1714

AF# 1735

AF# 1726

AF# 1709

AF# 1722

AF# 1727

AF# 1697

Page 2
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
May 15, 2007

COMPRESSED AIR FREE AIR .
FOUNDATION TUNNEL CAISSON
SUBWAY WORKERS POLITICAL

- ACTION FUND, and RICHARD E
FITZSIMMONS as treasurer;

- ARCH LEADERSHIP.PAC, and JOHN
- ROSS TRUMAN as treasurer;
~SUFF CO DETECTIVES ASSN INC
-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and

RAYMOND L GRIFFIN JR as treasurer;

. CONSERVATIVE VICTORY

COMMITTEE, and LEIF E NOREN as
treasurer; '

_OHIO ASSOCIATION OF MORTGAGE
- BROKERS PAC (OAMB PAC), and JIM

STEINBERG as treasurer,

PHILLIPS INTERNATIONAL INC .
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
Estey, William Mr. as treasurer;

)
)
)
)
)

N N N N N N

AF# 1707

- AF# 1699

AF#1733.

"AF# 1708

AF# 1724

AF# 1728

Page 3 |
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: :.To Belleve Recommendation - 2006 Year End Report for the Admlmstratlve F me

f 2007, onthe following committees:.

&

_Federal Election Commission ‘ ' | f ; Page 4

Certification for Administrative Fines
May 15, 2007

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commission, do hereby -

"cert'ify that on May 15, 2007 the Commission took the following actions on the Reéson- |

’Program as recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated May 09 N

AF#1717  Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that KING FOR -
.CONGRESS, and BRUCE MALOTT as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) andmakea -

preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Welntraub

‘ d1d not vote.

.AF#I 706 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that COMMITTEE -
TO ELECT SEKHON FOR CONGRESS, and DALJIT KAUR SEKHON as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatwely for the
decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote. ' : :

AF#1712 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that HOMER
HARTAGE, and Black, Erica C. as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on




Federal Election Commission ' : | ~ Page5
Certification for Administrative Fines ’
May 15, 2007

the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub

did not vote.

AF#1698 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that ANDY

_ "MICHAUD FOR CONGRESS, and ANDY MICHAUD as treasurer violated 2 U. S C.
~ 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would’ be the
. amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard
. -Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the dec1s1on Commxssxoner
R Wemtraub did not vote. ‘ :

. AF#1720 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that MIKE *: .
'MCGRAW FOR CONGRESS, and A ROBERT MUZIO as treasurer violated 2 U S C _
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would bethe

amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard

" Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the dec1snon Commlssxoner
- Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1701 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that BEATTY FOR
CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and JUDITH GRANDINETTI as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard,
Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the decision. Commxssnoner e
Weintraub did not vote.
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Federal Election Commission ' | ‘. : ~ Page6

Certification for Administrative Fines
May 15, 2007

AF#1725 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that OSTROW FOR
CONGRESS, and SUSAN H HANNA as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub
did not vote. ‘

AF#1702 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that BYRNE FOR
CONGRESS COMMITTEE; THE, and JILL K HUEY as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C.

434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the
amount indicated on tHe report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard,

‘Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the decision. Commissioner

Wemtraub did not vote.

AF#1711 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that GREEN FOR
CHANGE, and CORAMINITA MAHR as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von ‘
Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub
did not vote.
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Federal Election Commission -' | ~ Page?
Certification for Administrative Fines N '
May 15, 2007

' "AF#1714 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to beheve that JACOBS FOR |

CONGRESS, and WILLARD STEPHEN HAYNES as treasurer violated 2 U.S: C 434(a)

- and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount

indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason

~von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commlssmner
'-'Wemtraub did not vote. -

- AF#1735 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find réason to believe that TERRY

STULCE FOR CONGRESS, and Cannon, Blair Ms as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason,
von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner
Weintraub did not vote. '
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Certification for Administrative Fines
May 15, 2007

AF#1726 - Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to béliéve that PAULR. -

'NELSON FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and Anderson, Jeff as treasurer violated 2 -

‘U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would

be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commlssmners o
. Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the demsxo '
o Commxssmner Weintraub did not vote.

S 'AF#1709 " Decided by a vote of 4 0 to: (1) find reason to believe that CONTRA: . .
'~ COSTA UNITED DEMOCRATIC CAMPAIGN AKA CCUDC, and GREGORY. E. o ol
o "SANBORN as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determmatlon;. B

‘that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send-the -
- appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walthcr voted
p afﬁrmatlvely for the decnslon Commlssmner Weintraub did not vote. S

AF#1722 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that NEXT ~

POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Linehan, Patrick as treasurer violated 2. U.S.C.

434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the

* amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard,
~.Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. Comm1ssmner

Weintraub did not vote

AF#1727 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that
PENNSYLVANIA PAC FOR PROGRESS, and JONATHAN ROBERT KING as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬂxmatlvely
for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1697  Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that AMERICAN
FINANCIAL SERVICES ASSOCIATION PAC, and Himpler, Bill Mr. as treasurer
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely for the
demsmn Commissioner Weintraub did not vote. »
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Federal Election Commission | ~ Page9
Certification for Administrative Fines ’
May 15, 2007

AF#1707 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that
COMPRESSED AIR FREE AIR FOUNDATION TUNNEL CAISSON SUBWAY
WORKERS POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and RICHARD E FITZSIMMONS as
treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil

~ money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate’

letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely

for the de<3131on Commlsswner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1699 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that ARCH
LEADERSHIP PAC, and JOHN ROSS TRUMAN as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason,
von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the demsmn Commissioner
Weintraub did not vote. -

AF#1733 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that SUFF CO
DETECTIVES ASSN INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RAYMOND L
GRIFFIN JR as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

AF#1708 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that
CONSERVATIVE VICTORY COMMITTEE, and LEIF E NOREN as treasurer violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money penalty would
be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted affirmatively for the decision. -
Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.
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o AR "_AF#1728 Demded by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that PHILLIPS

- INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and Estey, William Mf |

Federal Election Commission - ) | ‘Page 10

Certification for Administrative Fines
May 15, 2007

“AF#1724 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) find reason to believe that OHIO . .
- ASSOCIATION OF MORTGAGE BROKERS PAC (OAMB PAC), and JIM" |
- STEINBERG as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determ1nat10n
that the civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the ..
- -appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted
: f‘afﬁrmatlvely for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote. - «

‘as treasurer violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the cwll

" money penalty would be the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate.

letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Walther voted afﬁrmatlvely
for the decision. Commissioner Weintraub did not vote.

Attest:

' %47 /& 207 % 4. L@M

Date < ‘Mary W/Dove
: _ Secretary of the Commission



FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

May 17, 2007

John Ross Truman

Arch Leadership PAC

906 Olive Street, Suite 1212 =
St Louis, MO 63101

C00416404
AF#: 1699

Dear John Ross Truman:

The Federal Election Campaign.Act of 1971, as amended ("the Act"), requires that your

- committee file a Year End Report of Receipts and Disbursements every calendar year. This

report, covering the period through December 31st, shall be filed no later than January 31st. 2
U.S.C. 434(a). You were previously notified of the due date for this report. Records at the
Federal Election Commission ("FEC") indicate that this report was not filed within thirty (30)
days of the due date. You should file this report if you have not already done so.

The Act was: further amended in 1999 to permit the FEC to impose civil money
penalties for violations of the reporting requirements of 2 U.S.C. 434(a). 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(4).
On 5/15/2007, the FEC found that there is reason to believe ("RTB") that Arch Leadership PAC
and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) by failing to file timely this report on or before
January 31st. Based on the FEC's schedules of civil money penalties at 11 C.F.R. 111.43, the
amount of your civil money penalty calculated at the RTB stage is $900. It is due by 6/24/2007
and is based on these factors:

Election Sensitivity of Report: Not Election Sensitive
Level of Activity: $44,614

Number of Days Late: Not Filed

Number of Previous Civil Money Penalties Assessed: 0

To Pay the Calculated Civil Money Penalty

To pay the calculated civil money penalty, send the enclosed remittance and your
payment to the FEC at the address on page 3. Upon receipt of your payment, the FEC will send
you a final determination letter.

To Challenge the RTB Finding and/or Calculated Civil Money Penalty

To challenge the RTB finding and/or calculated civil money penalty, you must submit a
written response, including the AF# found on page one, to the FEC's Office of Administrative
Review, 999 E Street, NW, Washington, DC 20463. Your response must be received by
6/24/2007. Your written response must include the reason(s) why you are challenging the RTB
finding and/or calculated civil money penalty. The FEC will only consider challenges that are
based on a factual error, miscalculation of the calculated civil money penalty by the FEC, or the
existence of extraordinary circumstances that persisted for more than 48 hours that were beyond
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your control and prevented you from filing the report in a timely manner. Your response must
include the factual basis supporting the reason(s) and supporting documentation. The FEC
strongly encourages that documents be submitted in the form of affidavits or declarations.
Examples of circumstances that will not be considered extraordinary include, but are not limited
to, negligence, problems with vendors or contractors, staff illness, computer failures and similar
circumstances. 11 C.F.R. 111.35(b)(1)(iii) and (4).

Your failure to raise an argument in a timely fashion during the administrative process
shall be deemed a waiver of your right to present such argument in a petition to the district court
under 2 U.S.C. 437g. 11 C.F.R. 111.38.

If you intend to be represented by counsel, please advise the Office of Administrative
Review. You should provide, in writing, the name, address and telephone number of your
counsel and authorize counsel to receive notifications and communications relating to this
challenge and imposition of the calculated civil money penalty.

If You Do Not Pay the Calculated Civil Money Penalty or Submit a Challenge

If you do not pay the calculated civil money penalty or submit a written response, the
FEC will assume that the preceding factual allegations are true and make a final determination
that Arch Leadership PAC and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil
money penalty.

Unpaid civil money penalties assessed through the Administrative Fine regulations will
be subject to the Debt Collection Act of 1982 ("DCA") as amended by the Debt Collection
Improvement Act of 1996, 31 U.S.C. 3701 et seq. The FEC may take any and all appropriate
action authorized and required by the DCA, as amended, including transfer to the U.S.
Department of the Treasury for collection. 11 C.F.R. 111.45.

This matter was generated based on information ascertained by the FEC in the normal
course of carrying out its supervisory responsibilities. 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(2). It will remain
confidential in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(4)(B) and 437g(a)(12)(A) until it is placed on
the public record in accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.42, unless you notify the FEC in writing that
you wish the matter to be made public.

Additional information on the FEC's administrative fine program, including the final
regulations, is located at the FEC's website at www.FEC.gov. If you have questions regarding
the payment of the calculated civil money penalty, please contact Rhiannon Ryan in the Reports
Analysis Division at our toll free number (800) 424-9530 (at the prompt press 5) or (202) 694-
1130. If you have questions regarding the submission of a challenge, please contact the Office of
Administrative Review at our toll free number (800) 424-9530 (press 0, then ext. 1660) or (202)
694-1660.

Sincerely,

RN/

Robert D. Lenhard
Chairman
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ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

In accordance with the schedule of penalties at 11 C.F.R. 111.43, the amount of your
civil money penalty calculated at RTB is $900 for the 2006 Year-End Report.

Please mail this remittance with a check or money order made payable to the Federal
Election Commission to the following address:

Federal Election Commission
P.O. Box 979058
St. Louis, MO 63197-9000

If you choose to send your remittance and payment by courier or overnight delivery,
please use this address:

U.S. Bank - Government Lockbox

FEC #979058

1005 Convention Plaza

Attn: Government Lockbox, SL-MO-C2GL
St. Louis, MO 63101

The remittance and your payment are due by 6/24/2007. Upon receipt of your remittance
and payment, the FEC will send you a final determination letter.

PAYMENTS BY PERSONAL CHECK

Personal checks will be converted into electronic funds transfers (EFTS). Your account
will be electronically debited for the amount on your check, usually within 24 hours, and the
debit will appear on your regular statement. We will destroy your original check and keep a
copy of it. In case the EFT cannot be processed for technical reasons, you authorize us to
process the copy in lieu of the original check. Should the EFT not be completed because of
insufficient funds, we may try to make the transfer twice.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BELOW WITH YOUR PAYMENT

FOR: Arch Leadership PAC

FEC ID#: C00416404

AF#: 1699

PAYMENT DUE DATE: 6/24/2007

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $900
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July 16,2007

SENSITIVE

MEMORANDUM
o “TO: THE COMMISSION
" THROUGH: PATRINA M. CLARK
e STAFFDIRECTOR| (/™
w0 R ,
& FROM: - JOHN D. GIBSON
g; | - ACTING CHIEF CQMPLIANCE OFFICER |
Y CRAIG CROOKS SB=—
ACTING ASSISTANT STAFF DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION |
BY: PATRICIA CARM(ngA / RHIANNON RYAN
COMPLIANCE BRANCH
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PROGRAM - FINAL

DETERM]NATION RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2006
YEAR END REPORT

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers against which
the Commission has found reason to belicve (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to fi'lle or failure to timely file the 2006 Year End
Report. The first list represents the committees that have paid the civil money penalty
and the second list represents those committees that have not paid. The committees that
have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the Commission’s
RTB finding to remit payment.

For your information, one (1) ¢
therefore, will be issued a refund. Eleven
after the RTB finding which would resul
committees will be assessed a civil money
RTB finding, and three (3) committees w:

committee submitted double payments, and
(11) committees disclosed a level of activity
t in a lowered civil money penalty. Eight (8)
penalty at FD that has been reduced since the
i1l be assessed a civil money penalty of $0 at .

FD. An overview of each of these cases has been provided for your review.

Compressed Air Free Air Foundati

on Tunnel Caisson Subway Workers Political

‘Action Fund (AF 1707) submitted two checks, each for the $125 civil money penalty
assessed at RTB. The first payment, dated June 12, 2007, was sent to the Govenment

Lockbox via regular USPS mail. The seca
the Government Lockbox via FedEx

nd payment, dated July 10, 2007, was sent to
Ovemnight. The payments were received




~ date of July 16, 2007. Total payments rece

: Aci‘vlil money penalty assessed at RTB; we wil

'Repoft after the RTB finding and disclosed

simultaneoﬁsly at the FEC on July 16,‘2007, and subsequently both have a payment credit

assessed at FD is $125; we will therefore issu

Conservative Victory Committee (AF

ived equal $250. The civil money penalty
e a refund for the difference

1708) disclosed a level of activity after the

RTB finding which would result in a lowered civil money penaity. The committee

$16,709), thus the fine would be lowered fi

“disclosed total receipts and disbursements of $4,023 (previously estimated to be =~
rom $500 to $250. The committee paid: thei .

therefore issue a refund for the dlfferencf“‘ L

Ohio Association of Mortgage Brokers PAC (OAMB PAC) (AF 1724) filed the
2006 Year End Report after the RTB finding and disclosed a level of activity which
would result in a lowered civil money penalty. The committee disclosed total receipts
and disbursements of $240 (previously estimated to be $16,489), thus the fine would be

lowered from $625 to $312.

Paul R. Nelson for Congress Committee (AF 1726) filed the 2006 Year End

a level of activity which would result in a

lowered civil money penalty. The committee disclosed total receipts and disbursements
of $3,627 (previously estimated to be $61,545), thus the fine would be lowered from

$2,700 to $250.

Phillips International Inc. Political Action Committee (AF 1728) filed the 2006
Year End Report after the RTB finding and disclosed a level of activity which would
result in a lowered civil money penalty. The committee disclosed total receipts and
disbursements of $2,213 (previously estimated to be $46 ,300), thus the fine would be

lowered from $900 to $250.
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RTB finding and disclosed a level of activ

.. (previously estimated to be $32,975), thus the

 money penalty. The committee disclosed
o (prev10usly estimated to be $23,274), thus the

- civil money penalty.

- Andy Michaud for Congress (AF 169
RTB finding and disclosed a level of activ
money penalty. The committee disclosed
(previously estimated to be $49,989), thus the

Mike McGraw for Congress (AF 172

money- penalty. ‘The committee disclosed

- Termry Stulce for Congress (AF 1735)
RTB finding and disclosed a level of activ

" In accordance with 11 CFR 111.34 and 11 CFR 111.40, the Comm1ssmn shall
ondents that have either paid or not pa;d_,t»he o

send a final determination notice to those resp

RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determination that the politic
attached reports violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.

8) filed the 2006 Year End Report after the

ity which would result in a lowered civil

fine would be lowered from $900 to $0.

fine would be lowered from $900 to $O

fine would be lowered from $500 to $O

cal committees and their treasurers on the
and assess the final civil money penalties so

total receipts and disbursements of $0

0) filed the 2006 Year End Report after the
ity which would result in a lowered civil ~
total receipts and disbursements of $0,

filed the 2006 Year End Report aﬁer- the
ity which would result in a lowered c1V1l- T R
total receipts and disbursements of. $O L
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BEFORE THE FEDEP}.AL ELECTION COMMISSION

: In the Matter of

. : * Administrative Fines Final Determination
- : ' Recommendation for the 2006 Year End
- - Report:

pld . NEXT POLITICAL ACTION '
gg ‘ COMMITTEE, and LINEHAN, PATRICK
4 - as treasurer;

o CONTRA COSTA UNITED

o : - DEMOCRATIC CAMPAIGN (CCCUDC),

P and GREGORY E SANBORN as treasurer;
COMPRESSED AIR FREE AIR
FOUNDATION TUNNEL CAISSON
SUBWAY WORKERS POLITICAL

- ACTION FUND, and RICHARD E
- FITZSIMMONS as treasurer;

AMERICAN FINANCIAL SERVICES
ASSOCIATION PAC, and BILL |
HIMPLER MR. as treasurer; ~
PENNSYLVANIA PAC FOR PROGRESS,
and JONATHAN ROBERT KING as
treasurer; '
KING FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE
MALOTT as treasurer;
ANDY MICHAUD FOR CONGRESS, and
ANDY MICHAUD as treasurer;
ARCH LEADERSHIP PAC, and J OHN
ROSS TRUMAN as treasurer;
BEATTY FOR CONGRESS
COMMITTEE, and JUDITH
GRANDINETTI as treasurer;
BYRNE FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE;
THE, and JILL K HUEY as treasurer;

AF# 1722
AF# 1709

AF# 1707

AF# 1697
AF#1727

AF# 1717

(S5

AF# 1698

AF# 1699

AF# 1701

AF#1702

N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N




Federal Election Commission ' - Page 2
Certification for Administrative Fines
July 20, 2007

1

26831

2708

. CONSERVATIVE VICTORY
- COMMITTEE, and LEIF E NOREN as
+ treasurer;

g .

" CORAMINITA MAHR as treasurer;
HOMER HARTAGE, and BLACK, ERICA

treasurer;

CONGRESS, and DALJIT KAUR
SEKHON as treasurer;

GREEN FOR CHANGE, and

C. as treasurer; : _
JACOBS FOR CONGRESS, and
WILLARD STEPHEN HAYNES as

|

MIKE MCGRAW FOR CONGRESS, and

A ROBERT MUZIO as treasurer;

- COMMITTEE TO ELECT SEKHON FOR

OHIO ASSOCIATION OF MORTGAGE
BROKERS PAC (OAMB PAC), and JIM

STEINBERG as treasurer;
OSTROW FOR CONGRESS, and SUS
H HANNA as treasurer;
PAUL R. NELSON FOR CONGRESS

AN

COMMITTEE, and ANDERSON, JEEF as

treasurer;

PHILLIPS INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE,
ESTEY, WILLIAM MR. as treasurer;

and

AF# 1706

AF# 1708

AF# 1711

AF# 1712

AF# 1714

- AF# 1720

AF# 1724

AF# 1725

AF# 1726

AF# 1728



o
s

(]

w0
"
P
o}
s
1™

My

‘ o ‘ v
Federal Election Commission - - Page3

Certification for Administrative Fines
July 20, 2007

SUFF CO DETECTIVES ASSN INC ) AF#1733
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and ) '

- RAYMOND L GRIFFIN JR as treasurer; )

“TERRY STULCE FOR CONGRESS, and ) AF# 1735
CANNON, BLAIR MS as treasurer; )

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal Election Commissiori: do hereby a
certify that on July 20, 2007 the Commission took the following actions en_ -the o
Administrative Fines Final Deterxhination Recommendation for the 2006'Yeer End
Report, as recommended in the Repoﬁs Analysis Division's Memorandum .dated.' J uly 16,

2007, on the following committees:

AF#1722 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that NEXT
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and LINEHAN, PATRICK as treasurer , violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted '
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.

AF#1709 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that CONTRA
COSTA UNITED DEMOCRATIC CAMPAIGN (CCCUDC), and GREGORY E
SANBORN as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von -
Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther
did not vote.

AF#1707 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
COMPRESSED AIR FREE AIR FOUNDATION TUNNEL CAISSON SUBWAY
WORKERS POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and RICHARD E FITZSIMMONS as
treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)

send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and

Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.
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 AF#1697 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that

AMERICAN FINANCIAL SERVICES ASSOCIATION PAC, and BILL HIMPLER MR.
as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)
send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and

- 'Wemtraub voted afﬁrmatlvely for the decision. Commissioner Walther d1d not vote

AF#1727 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that - f‘:“f-’jf B
PENNSYLVANIA PAC FOR PROGRESS, and JONATHAN ROBERT KING as: -

treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so mdlcated (2)

send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky; and
Wemtraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commnsswner Walther did not vote i

'AF#l 717 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that KING |

FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE MALOTT as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and

- assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.

Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted afﬁrmatlvely for
the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.

AF#1698 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that ANDY .
MICHAUD FOR CONGRESS, and ANDY MICHAUD as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropnate letter.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.

AF#1699 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that ARCH
LEADERSHIP PAC, and JOHN ROSS TRUMAN as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) .
and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote. :

AF#1701 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that BEATTY
FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and JUDITH GRANDINETTI as treasurer , violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.

AF#1702 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that BYRNE
FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE; THE, and JILL K HUEY as treasurer , violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted -
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.




g |
™l

Y
&N
G2
Frw.

Mmoo
o
©

Federal Election Commission : ' Pages

Certification for Administrative Fines
July 20, 2007

AF#1706 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination ﬂthat' o
COMMITTEE TO ELECT SEKHON FOR CONGRESS, and DALJIT KAUR SEKHON
as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2)

~ send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and .

Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther did not_vcf),t‘é".""

AF#1708 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that
CONSERVATIVE VICTORY COMMITTEE, and LEIF E NOREN as treasurer ,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the

appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted

affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.

AF#1711 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that GREEN
FOR CHANGE, and CORAMINITA MAHR as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.

AF#1712 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that HOMER
HARTAGE, and BLACK, ERICA C. as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess
the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners



Federal Election Commission : . ' 'Page 6
Certification for Administrative Fines :
July 20, 2007

- Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision.

Commissioner Walther did not vote.

AF#1714 . Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that JACOBS

. - FOR CONGRESS, and WILLARD STEPHEN HAYNES as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C.

434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.

- ‘Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted afﬁrmatlvely for 4
_ the demsmn Commissioner Walther did not vote. ‘ Ce

AF#1720 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that MIKE
MCGRAW FOR CONGRESS, and A ROBERT MUZIO as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted afﬁrmatlvely for
the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote. :

AF#1724 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that OHIO
ASSOCIATION OF MORTGAGE BROKERS PAC (OAMB PAC), and JIM
STEINBERG as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty
so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther
did not vote. - :

AF#1725 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that OSTROW
FOR CONGRESS, and SUSAN H HANNA as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted affumatlvely for
the decision. Comrmsswner Walther did not vote.

AF#1726. Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that PAUL R.
NELSON FOR CONGRESS COMMITTEE, and ANDERSON, JEFF as treasurer ,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote. :

AF#1728 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that PHILLIPS
INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and ESTEY, WILLIAM
MR. as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von
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‘ Spakovsky, and. Wemtraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Comm1ssnoner Walther

did not vote.

AF#1733 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to: (1) make a final determination that SUFF CO
DETECTIVES ASSN INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RAYMOND L
GRIFFIN JR as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so
indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von

Spakovsky, and-Weintraub voted affirmatively for the decision. Comm1sswner Walther

did not vote.

AF#1735 Decided by a vote of 4-0 to:-(1) make a final determination that TERRY
STULCE FOR CONGRESS, and CANNON, BLAIR MS as treasurer , violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess the civil money penalty so indicated; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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~ Commissioners Lenhard, Mason, von Spakovsky, and Weintraub voted affirmatively for

the decision. Commissioner Walther did not vote.

Attest'

Secretary/pf the Commission

- | %léﬁﬁ% . %ﬁg @ } / Q!M
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

July 24, 2007

John Ross Truman, Treasurer
Arch Leadership PAC

906 Olive Street, Suite 1212
St. Louis, MO 63101

C00416404
AF#: 1699

Dear John Ross Truman,

On 5/15/2007, the Federal Election Commission ("FEC") found reason to believe
("RTB") that Arch Leadership PAC and you, as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) for filing late
or failing to file the 2006 Year-End Report. By letter dated 5/17/2007 the FEC sent you
notification of the RTB finding that included a civil money penalty calculated at the RTB stage
of $900 in accordance with the schedule of penalties at 11 C.F.R. 111.43.

On 6/11/2007, the FEC received payment of your civil money penalty calculated at the

RTB stage. The FEC made a final determination on 7/20/2007 that you, as treasurer, and Arch

Leadership PAC violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a), assessed a civil money penalty in the amount of $900
in accordance with 11 C.F.R. 111.43, and voted to close the file.

The confidentiality provisions at 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(12) no longer apply and this matter
is now public. The file will be made a part of the public record pursuant to 11 C.F.R. 111.42(b).

~ Although the file must be placed on the public record within thirty (30) days from the date of the

Commission's notification, this could occur at anytime following certification of the
Commission's vote. ’

If you have any questions regarding this matter, please contact Rhiannon Ryan on our

toll free number (800) 424-9530 (at the prompt press 5) or (202) 694-1130.

Sincerely,

RIHLL

Robert D. Lenhard
Chairman



FOR: Arch Leadership PAC

. . ¥

FEC ID#: C00416404

AF#: 1699

PAYMENT DUE DATB 6/24/2007

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $900

- TOTAL Piga o

QUALITY IS OUR PRIORITY FOR LOCKBOX 9058

SEQ# 003 $ 0000090000 BA# 1 06-08-07 20 4
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 FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington DC 20463
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